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27 June 2025

Arc Minerals Ltd

('Arc Minerals' or the 'Company')

Financial Results for the twelve months ended 31 December 2024

Arc Minerals  Limited announces  i ts  audited results  for the year ended 31 December 2024 and confirms that i ts  annual

report and accounts  for the period ("Annual  Report") has  been made avai lable on the Company's  website at

http://www.arcminerals .com/investors/document-l ibrary/default.aspx.

I n accordance with shareholders ' agreement(i) to receive informa0on electronical ly and in the absence of any requests

submi2ed to the Company for informa0on in print, the Annual  Report i s  deemed disclosed to Shareholders  through the

publ ication on the Company's  website. The Annual  Report has  not been distributed to shareholders  in printed format.

Notice of the Company's  Annual  General  Meeting wi l l  be announced in due course.

 

Market Abuse Regulation (MAR) Disclosure
This announcement contains inside informa�on for the purposes of A r�cle 7 of the Market A buse Regula�on (EU) 596/2014 as
it forms part of UK  domes�c law by virtue of the European Union (W ithdrawal) A ct 2018 ("M A R"), and is disclosed in
accordance with the Company's obligations under Article 17 of MAR.

Forward-looking Statements
This news release contains forward-looking statements that are based on the Company's current expecta�ons and es�mates.
Forward-looking statements are frequently characterised by words such as "plan", "expect", "project", "intend", "believe",
"an�cipate", "es�mate", "suggest", "indicate" and other similar words or statements that certain events or condi�ons "may" or
"will" occur. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertain�es and other factors that could
cause actual events or results to differ materially from es�mated or an�cipated events or results implied or expressed in such
forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among others: the actual results of current explora�on ac�vi�es; conclusions
of economic evalua�ons; changes in project parameters as plans con�nue to be refined; possible varia�ons in ore grade or
recovery rates; accidents, labour disputes and other risks of the mining industry; delays in obtaining governmental approvals or
financing; and fluctua�ons in metal prices. There may be other factors that cause ac�ons, events or results not to be as
an�cipated, es�mated or intended. A ny forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made and, except
as may be required by applicable securities laws, the Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update any forward-looking
statement, whether as a result of new informa�on, future events or results or otherwise. Forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance and accordingly undue reliance should not be put on such statements due to the inherent
uncertainty therein.

(i) Shareholder consent to receive information electronically
At the A nnual General Mee�ng of the Company held in September 2012, Shareholders approved electronic communica�on and
dissemina�on of informa�on via the Company's official website, including but not limited to No�ces of General Mee�ngs, Forms
of P roxy and A nnual Reports and A ccounts. Shareholders are reminded that their right to request informa�on in print remains
unaffected and that they can do so by contacting the Company giving no less than 14 days' notice.

**ENDS**

For further information, contact:

Arc Minerals Ltd                                                             
Nick von Schirnding (Executive Chairman)           
 

 
info@arcminerals .com

Zeus Capital Ltd (Nominated Adviser & Joint Broker)
Katy Mitchel l/Harry Ansel l
 

Tel : +44 (0) 20 3829 5000

Shard Capital Partners LLP (Joint Broker)
Damon Heath
 

Tel : +44 (0) 20 7186 9952

 

For more information, vis i t www.arcminerals .com.
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2024 Overview

I 'm pleased to report on Arc Minerals ' year-end results  for 2024.

Joint Venture with Anglo American

The joint venture's  dri l l ing campaign is  led by our partners  at Anglo American. Fol lowing the comple0on of an extens ive

ground mapping exercise over i ts  Zambian tenements , the Anglo American/Arc joint venture commenced dri l l ing in August

2024. Dri l l ing ini tia l ly focused on a new target approximately 1km east of the oxide occurrence at Cheyeza. 

A soi l  anomaly iden0fied by Anglo's  sampl ing program was observed at a  new target approximately one and a hal f

ki lometres  east of the exis0ng oxide occurrence at Cheyeza (as  announced on 7 November 2024) and was verified by

diamond dri l l ing. Near surface mineral isa0on was confirmed by assay data from hole KC D D002 included 40.60m at 0.61%

Cu from 22.25m down the hole, including 12.75m @ 1.20% Cu from 22.25m and 7.70m @ 1.72% Cu from 26.75m.

The KC D D002 assay results  demonstrate the poten0al  to add to the known extents  of the oxide occurrences  at Cheyeza,

where s imi lar high grade zones  have been intersected and reported in the past. Historic hole C H D D E004 intersected 18m @

2.35% Cu from 30.60m with a  higher grade zone of 7.60m @ 4.15% Cu from 39m, and hole C H D D E060 intersected 39m @

1.47% Cu with a  higher grade zone of 10m @ 2.25% Cu from 41m.

I mportantly and unl ike the previous ly reported oxide occurrence which is  characterised as  being a  remobi l i sed copper

oxide occurrence, the oxide mineral isa0on intersected in hole KC D D002 may be the result of weathering of sulphide

mineral isation at source, which is  supported by the presence of sulphide mineral isation below the oxide zone.

Two holes  were dri l led at the new target Nkwazhi  that i s  located between Cheyeza and Muswema, tes0ng a thickened Lower

Roan unit in this  part of the bas in. The first hole intersected copper mineral isa0on of over 20m at the base of the Upper

Roan along with anomalous  nickel  in a  marker ta lc-schist unit in the Lower Roan, below which currently no further

mineral isation has  been observed. The second hole dri l led 400m away did not intersect mineral isation. 

The third target tested was approximately 4km to the south-east of Muswema where a second order soi l  geochemical

anomaly is  present. 

Zambia Exploration Acquisition

Arc announced on 7 Apri l  2025 that i t had entered into a  binding agreement to acquire the Chingola P roject (Licence 38113-

H Q -LEL) in the Zambian Copperbelt. Under the terms of the agreement, Arc's  100% owned Zambian subs idiary, Foreland

Minerals  Limited, wi l l  purchase the en0re interest in the l icence from Brxton Construc0on Limited. The agreement is  subject

to certain customary condi0ons such as  the comple0on of sa0sfactory due di l igence and the receipt of necessary consents

and approvals  for the transfer.  The cons idera0on for the acquis i0on comprises  an ini0al  cash payment of US D 50,000 and

further staged payments , subject to speci fic exploration mi lestones  and regulatory approvals , as  fol lows:

(i )        25,000 in ordinary shares  of Arc Minerals  Ltd based on the preceding 20-day volume weighted average price

("Acquis i0on Shares"), due upon ful l  sa0sfac0on or waiver by Arc of a l l  condi0ons precedent ("Comple0on")

("Completion Payment");

(i i )           100,000 in cash and 150,000 in Acquis i0on Shares  on the earl ier of the commencement of a  dri l l ing

programme or 24 months  after Completion ("First Instalment");

( i i i )          50,000 in cash and 50,000 in Acquis i0on Shares  fa l l ing due within 10 bus iness  days  of establ ishing an

economic JORC-compl iant 500kt+ Cu resource ("Second Instalment");

( i v )         50,000 in cash and 50,000 in Acquis i0on Shares  fa l l ing due within 10 bus iness  days  of comple0ng and

announcing a  successful  defini tive feas ibi l i ty study; and

(v)        A 2% net smelter royalty, capped at 5M, with a  right of first refusal  in favour of Arc pursuant to a  royalty

agreement to be entered into on or before Completion.

Botswana Drilling Campaign

The first phase to the maiden explora0on programme in the central  part of l icence P L135/2017 cons isted of eight holes

total l ing 3,023m, of which 1,978m were dri l led by reverse ci rcula0on ('RC') and 1,045m by core diamond dri l l ing ('D D')

methods.  The dri l l ing was  completed on budget and on time.

O f the eight holes  dri l led, diamond dri l l  hole ALV-D D-004 intersected 3m @1.29% CuEq within a  broader 6m @ 0.82%

CuEq. S ix of the remaining seven holes  dri l led intersected elevated to anomalous  copper mineral isa0on with ini0al

observa0ons of the core displaying s imi lar geological , s tra0graphic and structural  seNngs to that of M M G's  opera0ng

Zone 5 underground mine. Assay results  from the remaining dri l l  hole in respect of l icense P L162/2017 iden0fied no

s ignificant intercepts . The ful l  detai ls  of the dri l l ing programme are set out in the announcements  dated 14 November 2024

and 14 May 2025.



P rospec0ng l icenses  135/2017 and 162/2017 were extended for an addi0onal  two years  un0l  30 September 2026 in

accordance with the noti fication received from the Department of Mines  in Gaborone, Botswana.

Outlook

W hile the dri l l ing campaign by the Anglo American / Arc joint venture was frustrated by a  late start to dri l l ing i t

nevertheless  provided valuable data over the 5 holes  dri l led, especial ly with regard to the Cheyeza target, which wi l l  be

priori0sed for further dri l l ing. I n addi0on, we understand that targets  where no work has  historical ly been completed

(particularly the Fwi j i  and Nyambwezu targets) wi l l  be priori tised going forward. 

The period ahead promises  to be an exci0ng 0me for explora0on and growth for Arc Minerals  including the planned work

at the new Chingola acquis i tion, assuming the conditions  precedent are ful fi l led. 

Furthermore, with the acceptance by the Botswanan Department of Mines  of our appl ica0ons to extend the l icence terms of

the P L135/2017 and P L162/2017 l icenses, we expect to con0nue to explore and unlock the poten0al  of the Virgo P roject

l icenses  for an additional  two years , unti l  2026.

As  we forge ahead, our shareholders  can expect regular updates  on the progress  of our explora0on ac0vi0es, including the

results  of the geological  s tudies , geophys ical  surveys, and, most importantly, the dri l l ing campaigns. We remain committed

to maintaining open and transparent communication, keeping you informed every step of the way.

 

 

Nicholas von Schirnding

Executive Chairman

26 June 2025

 

 

 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2024

31 December
2024

31 December
2023  

Notes £ 000s £ 000s  
 

Admi ni s tra ti ve  e xpe ns e s 3 (1,052) (5,067)  
Operating loss from continuing operations (1,052) (5,067)  

 
Ga i n on di s pos a l  of Ha nda  Group 14 - 10,933  
Di s tri buti on from s ubs i di a ri e s 6 528 1,918  
Sha re  of l os s  from a s s oci a te 13 (1,546) (691)  
Profit/(Loss) before income tax (2,070) 7,093  

 
Income  ta x e xpe ns e 5 - -  

 
Profit/ (Loss) for the year from continuing operations (2,070) 7,093  

 
 

Los s  from di s conti nue d ope ra ti ons 4 - (24)  
Operating profit (loss) (2,070) 7,069  

 
Profit/ (Loss) for the year (2,070) 7,069  

 
Other comprehensive income:  
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss  

 
Curre ncy tra ns l a ti on di ffe re nce s 10 45  
Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (2,060) 7,114  

 
Loss attributable to:  
Equi ty hol de rs  of the  pa re nt (2,243) 7,078  
Non-control l i ng i nte re s t 173 (9)  

(2,070) 7,069  
Total comprehensive loss attributable to:  
Equi ty hol de rs  of the  pa re nt (2,235) 7,111  
Non-control l i ng i nte re s t 175 3  
  (2,060) 7,114  

 
Earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent during the year



Earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent during the year

- Ba s i c (pe nce  pe r s ha re ) 8 (0.15) 0.58  
- From conti nui ng ope ra ti ons  - Ba s i c 8 (0.15) 0.58  
- From conti nui ng ope ra ti ons  - Di l ute d 8 n/a 0.57  
- From di s conti nue d ope ra ti ons  - Ba s i c 8 - -  
- From di s conti nue d ope ra ti ons  - Di l ute d 8 n/a -  

 

 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2024

 

31 December
2024

31 December
2023

Notes £ 000s £ 000s

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Inta ngi bl e  a s s e ts 10 2,370 1,699
Inve s tme nt i n As s oci a te 13 912 2,458
Long-te rm re ce i va bl e 15 6,261 6,531
Total non-current assets 9,543 10,688

Current assets

Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s 15 1,988 1,859

Short te rm i nve s tme nts 17 - 68
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 1,635 281
Total current assets 3,623 2,208
TOTAL ASSETS 13,166 12,896

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 18 (1,667) (2,244)
Total current liabilities (1,667) (2,244)

Non-current liabilities

Long te rm pa ya bl e s 9 (103) (105)

TOTAL LIABILITIES (1,770) (2,349)

NET ASSETS 11,396 10,547

Sha re  Ca pi ta l 19 - -
Sha re  pre mi um 21 68,508 64,464
Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt re s e rve 20 - 126
Wa rra nt re s e rve 20 111 84
Fore i gn e xcha nge  re s e rve (102) (61)
Re ta i ne d e a rni ngs (57,293) (54,063)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 11,224 10,550
Non-control l i ng i nte re s t 172 (3)
TOTAL EQUITY 11,396 10,547

 

 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2024

31 December
2024

31 December
2023

Notes £ 000s £ 000s

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(Los s ) be fore  i ncome  ta x a nd i ncl udi ng
di s conti nue d ope ra ti ons (2,070) 7,069



di s conti nue d ope ra ti ons (2,070) 7,069
Non-ca s h ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  re l a te d to Ha nda  (Angl o JV) 14 - (10,933)
Fa i r va l ue  l os s  on i nve s tme nts 17 (28) 1,673
Di s tri buti on from s ubs i di a ry 6 (528) (1,918)
Sha re  of l os s  from a s s oci a te 13 1,546 691
Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt e xpe ns e 3 111 -
Ga i ns  a nd Los s e s  on fore i gn e xcha nge 3 (175) 476
De pre ci a ti on a nd a morti s a ti on 11 - 2
Unwi ndi ng of di s count (i nte re s t) (401) -
Net cash used in operaBng acBviBes before changes in
working capital (1,545) (2,940)

Incre a s e  i n tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s (i) 15 (75) (20)
(De cre a s e ) Incre a s e  i n tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 18 (583) 743
Net cash used in operating activities (2,203) (2,217)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purcha s e  of i nta ngi bl e  a s s e ts 10 (671) (65)
Proce e ds  from di s pos a l  of s hort te rm i nve s tme nts 96 -
Proce e ds  from di s pos a l  of Ha nda  (Angl o JV) 789 2,863
Di s tri bu0on to mi nori ty s ha re hol de r of Uni co Mi ne ra l s
Ltd 6

(261)
(945)

Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities (47) 1,853

Cash flows from financing activities
Proce e ds  from i s s ue  of ordi na ry s ha re s  - ne t of s ha re
i s s ue  cos ts  (iv) 21 4,044 29
Sha re  buyba ck 19 (408) -
Net cash from financing activities 3,636 29

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 1,386 (335)
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  a t be gi nni ng of ye a r 281 616
Excha nge  ga i ns  on ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts (32) -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 1,635 281

 

(i)      The movement in trade and other receivables include the movement in both long- and short-term receivables.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity as at 31 December 2024

 

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share

capital
Share

premium
Foreign

exchange
reserve

Share
based

payment
reserve

Warrant
reserve

Retained earnings Total

£ 000s £ 000s £ 000s £ 000s £ 000s £ 000s £ 000s

Balance as at 1 January 2024 - 64,464 (61) 126 84 (54,063) 10,550

Los s  for the  ye a r - - - - - (2,243) (2,243)
Othe r compre he ns i ve  i ncome (l os s ) for the  ye a r -
curre ncy tra ns l a ti on di ffe re nce s

- - 8 - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 8 - - (2,243) (2,235)
Sha re  ca pi ta l  i s s ue d - 4,293 - - - - 4,293
Cos t of i s s ui ng s ha re s - (249) - - - - (249)
Sha re  Buyba ck - - - - - (408) (408)
Wa rra nts  a nd Sha re  op0ons  e xpi re d duri ng the
ye a r -

- - (126) (84) 210

Wa rra nts  a nd Sha re  op0ons  e xpe ns e  duri ng the
ye a r -

- - - 111 - 111

Effe ct of fore i gn e xcha nge  on ope ni ng ba l a nce - - (49) - - - (49)
Di s tri buti on (s e e  Note  6) - - - - - (789) (789)
Total transacBons with owners, recognised directly in
equity

- 4,044 (49) (126) 27 (987) 2,909

Balance as at 31 December 2024 - 68,508 (102) - 111 (57,293) 11,224

 

 

 

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share Share Foreign Share Warrant Retained Total



Share
capital

Share
premium

Foreign
exchange

reserve

Share
based

payment
reserve

Warrant
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

£ 000s £ 000s £ 000s £ 000s £ 000s £ 000s £ 000s

Balance as at 1 January 2023 - 64,272 1,045 283 84 (59,196) 6,488
Los s  for the  ye a r - - - - - 7,078 7,078
Othe r compre he ns i ve  i ncome (l os s ) for the  ye a r -
curre ncy tra ns l a ti on di ffe re nce s

- - 33 - - - 33

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year - - 33 - - 7,078 7,111

Sha re  ca pi ta l  i s s ue d - 192 - - - - 192

Sha re  opti ons  e xpi re d duri ng the  ye a r - - - (157) - 157 -

Di vi de nds  de cl a re d (s e e  Note  6) - - - - - (2,863) (2,863)

Effe ct of Ha nda  group di s pos a l  (s e e  Note  4) - - (1,139) - - 761 (378)

Total transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity - 192 (1,139) (157) - (1,945) (3,049)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 - 64,464 (61) 126 84 (54,063) 10,550

 

 

Share capital: This  represents  the nominal  value of equity shares  in issue and is  ni l  as  the shares  have a ni l  par value.

Share premium: This  represents  the premium paid above the nominal  value of shares  in issue.

Foreign exchange reserve:  This  reserve represents  exchange differences  aris ing from the trans la0on of the financial  s tatements

of foreign subs idiaries  and the retrans lation of monetary i tems forming part of the net investment in those subs idiaries .

Share-based payments reserve: This  represents  the value of share-based payments  provided to employees  and Directors  as  part

of their remunera0on and provided to consultants  and advisors  hired from 0me to 0me as  part of the cons idera0on paid. The

reserve represents  the fa ir value of op0ons and performance share rights  recognised as  an expense. Upon exercise of op0ons or

performance share rights , any proceeds received are credited to share capital  and share premium.

Retained earnings: This  represents  the accumulated profits  and losses  s ince incep0on of the bus iness  and adjustments  rela0ng

to options  and warrants .

N on-Controlling Interest: This  represents  the Non-Control l ing I nterest element of Unico Minerals  Limited and Alvis -Crest (P ty)

Limited.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.      Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a.         General Information and Authorisation of Financial Statements

The Company is  registered in the Bri0sh Virgin I s lands  under the BVI  Bus iness  Companies  Act 2004 with

registered number 1396532 and is  located at Craigmuir Chambers , Road Town, Tortola. The Company's

ordinary shares  are traded on AIM, a  market of the London Stock Exchange.

The principal  ac0vity of the Company during the year was  that of a  holding company for a  group engaged in

the identi fication, evaluation, acquis i tion and development of natural  resource projects .  

The Financial  Statements  of Arc Minerals  Limited for the year ended 31 December 2024 were authorised for

issue by the Board on 26 June 2025.

b.        Basis of Preparation

The financial  s tatements  have been prepared in accordance with I nterna0onal  F inancial  Repor0ng Standards

(IFRS) and IFRS Interpretations  Committee (IFRS IC) as  adopted by the European Union.

The consol idated financial  s tatements  have been prepared on the historical  conven0on, as  modified by the

measurement to fa i r value of financial  assets  through profit and loss  and held for sale assets  and l iabi l i0es

as  described in the accounting pol icies  below.

The financial  informa0on is  presented in Pounds Sterl ing (£) and al l  values  are rounded to the nearest

thousand Pounds Sterl ing (£000's) unless  otherwise stated.

The principal  accoun0ng pol icies  appl ied in the prepara0on of these consol idated financial  s tatements  are



set out below. These pol icies  have been cons istently appl ied unless  otherwise stated.

c.         New and amended standards adopted by the Group

There were no new standards, amendments  or interpreta0ons effec0ve for the first 0me for periods  beginning

on or after 1 January 2024 that had a materia l  effect on the consol idated or company financial  s tatements .

At the date of approval  of these financial  s tatements , there were no new standards  or amendments  to I AS

which have not been appl ied in these financial  s tatements  which were in issue but not yet effec0ve and are

expected to have a materia l  impact on the consol idated and company financial  s tatements .

d.        Basis of Consolidation

The Consol idated Financial  Statements  comprise the financial  s tatements  of the Company and i ts  subs idiaries

made up to 31 December. Control  i s  achieved when the Group is  exposed, or has  rights , to variable returns

from i ts  involvement with the investee and has  the abi l i ty to affect those returns  through i ts  power over the

investee.

General ly, there is  a  presump0on that a  majori ty of vo0ng rights  result in control . To support this

presump0on and when the Group has  less  than a majori ty of the vo0ng or s imi lar rights  of an investee, the

Group cons iders  a l l  relevant facts  and ci rcumstances  in assess ing whether i t has  power over an investee,

including:

·      The contractual  arrangement with the other vote holders  of the investee;

·      Rights  aris ing from other contractual  arrangements; and

·      The Group's  voting rights  and potentia l  voting rights

The Group re-assesses  whether or not i t controls  an investee i f facts  and ci rcumstances  indicate that there are

changes  to one or more of the three elements  of control .

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries  are en00es over which the Group has  control . Subs idiaries  are ful ly consol idated from the date

on which control  i s  transferred to the Group. They are deconsol idated from the date that control  ceases.

Assets , l iabi l i0es , income and expenses  of a  subs idiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included

in the consol idated financial  s tatements  from the date the Group gains  control  un0l  the date the Group ceases

to control  the subs idiary.

The consol idated financial  s tatements  consol idate the financial  s tatements  of Arc Minerals  Limited and the

audited financial  s tatements  of i ts  subs idiary undertakings  made up to 31 December 2024.

W hen necessary, adjustments  are made to the financial  s tatements  of subs idiaries  to bring their accoun0ng

pol icies  into l ine with the Group's  accoun0ng pol icies . Al l  intra-group assets  and l iabi l i0es , equity, income,

expenses  and cash flows rela0ng to transac0ons between members  of the Group are el iminated in ful l  on

consol idation.

e.        Associates

Associates  are en00es over which the Group has  s ignificant influence but not control , general ly

accompanying a  shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the vo0ng rights . I nvestments  in associates  are

accounted for us ing the equity method of accoun0ng. Under the equity method, the investment is  ini0al ly

recognised at cost and the carrying amount is  increased or decreased to recognise the investor's  share of the

profit or loss  of the investee aSer the date of acquis i0on. The Group's  investment in associates  includes  any

goodwi l l  identi fied on acquis i tion.

Where the ownership interest in an existing investment is  increased whereby s igni ficant influence is  obtained,

the Group re-measures  the exis0ng investment immediately prior to obtaining s ignificant influence with

resul0ng gains/losses  recognised immediately in profit or loss . The fa ir value of the exis0ng investment

added to the fa ir value of the cons idera0on of the addi0onal  investment is  treated as  the deemed cost and is

continued to be accounted for under the equity method.

I f the ownership interest in an associate is  reduced but s ignificant influence is  retained, only a  propor0onate

share of the amounts  previous ly recognised in other comprehensive income is  reclass ified to profit or loss

where appropriate.

The Group's  share of post-acquis i0on profit or loss  i s  recognised in the statement of comprehensive income,

and i ts  share of post-acquis i0on movements  is  recognised in the other comprehensive income sec0on of the

statement of comprehensive income with a  corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the

investment. W hen the Group's  share of losses  in an associate equals  or exceeds i ts  interest in the associate,

including any unsecured receivables , the Group does  not recognise further losses , unless  i t has  incurred legal

or constructive obl igations  or made payments  on behalf of the associate.



or constructive obl igations  or made payments  on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines  at each repor0ng date whether there is  any objec0ve evidence that the investment in the

associate is  impaired. I f this  i s  the case, the Group calculates  the amount of impairment as  the difference

between the recoverable amounts  of the associate and i ts  carrying value and recognises  the amount adjacent

to 'share of profi t/loss  of associate' in the group statement of comprehensive income.

W hen the Group loses  s ignificant influence over an associate, i t derecognises  that associate and recognises  a

profit or loss  being the difference between the sum of the proceeds received and any retained interest, and the

carrying amount of the investment in the associate at the date s igni ficant influence is  lost.

Gains  and losses  resul0ng from upstream and downstream transac0ons between the Group and i ts

associates  are recognised in the Group's  financial  s tatements  only to the extent of unrelated investor's

interests  in the associates . Unreal ised losses  are el iminated unless  the transac0on provides  evidence of an

impairment of the asset transferred. Accoun0ng pol icies  of associates  have been changed where necessary to

ensure cons istency with the pol icies  adopted by the Group.

I mpairment gains  and losses  aris ing in investments  in associates  are recognised in the statement of

comprehensive income.

W hen the Group gains  control  of an associate the fa ir value of the associate undertaking is  then assessed

with any gain or loss  aris ing being recognised within the income statement.

f.         Going Concern

The Directors  have reviewed a forecast for the next 18 months, prepared by the execu0ve and have a

reasonable expecta0on that the Group has  sufficient funds  to con0nue in opera0on and sa0sfy l iabi l i0es  for

the foreseeable future.

Whi lst the Group has  sufficient funds  to meet their day to day working capital  needs  for a  period of 12 months

from the date the financial  s tatements  are approved through a mix of reducing explora0on spend and other

expenses, a long with the deferral  of directors ' fees , they wi l l  require further funding to finance i ts  explora0on

programme in the medium term, which may include a fund rais ing in the future. The Directors  note that the

Group's  abi l i ty to remain a  going concern beyond the Going Concern assessment period of 12 months  from the

date the financial  s tatements  is  approved is  dependent on the Group's  abi l i ty to ra ise further equity and/or

debt finance in the medium term. Whi lst the Directors  acknowledge that this  carries  a  degree of uncertainty, in

part due to current market vola0l i ty, they have a reasonable expecta0on that the Group wi l l  con0nue to be

able to raise finance as  required.

The Directors  therefore cons ider i t appropriate for the Company to con0nue to adopt the going concern bas is

in preparing the Annual  Report and Financial  Statements .

g.         Business combinations

The Group appl ies  the acquis i0on method to account for bus iness  combina0ons. The cons idera0on

transferred for the acquis i0on of the subs idiary is  the fa ir value of the assets  transferred, the l iabi l i0es

incurred to the former owners  of the acquiree and the equity interests  i ssued by the Group. The cons idera0on

transferred includes  the fa ir value of any asset or l iabi l i ty resul0ng from a con0ngent cons idera0on

arrangement. I den0fiable assets  acquired and l iabi l i0es  and con0ngent l iabi l i0es  assumed in a  bus iness

combina0on are measured ini0al ly at their fa i r values  at acquis i0on date. The Group recognises  any non-

control l ing interest in the acquiree on an acquis i0on by acquis i0on bas is ; ei ther at fa i r value or at the non-

control l ing interest's  proportionate share of the recognised amounts  of the acquiree's  identi fiable net asset.

Acquis i tion related costs  are expensed as  incurred.

I f a  bus iness  combina0on is  achieved in stages, the acquis i0on date carrying value of the acquiree's

previous ly held interest in the acquire is  re-measured to fa ir value at the acquis i0on date; any gain or loss

aris ing from such a re-measurement are recognised in profi t or loss .

Goodwi l l  i s  ini0al ly measured as  the excess  of the aggregate of the cons idera0on transferred and the fa ir

value of non-control l ing interest over the iden0fiable net assets  acquired and l iabi l i0es  assumed. I f this

cons idera0on is  lower than the fa ir value of the net assets  of the subs idiary acquired, the difference is

recognised in profi t or loss  in the Income Statement.

Any interest of non-control l ing interests  in the acquiree is  ini0al ly measured at the minori ty's  propor0on of

the net fa i r value of the assets , l iabi l i0es  and con0ngent l iabi l i0es  recognised. There are no non- control l ing

shareholders  of subs idiaries .

h.        Segment reporting

O pera0ng segments  are reported in a  manner cons istent with the internal  repor0ng provided to the Board,



being the Group's  chief operating decis ion-maker ("CODM").

i.          Foreign currencies

The Group presenta0onal  currency is  pound sterl ing (GBP ). Each en0ty in the Group determines  i ts  own

func0onal  currency and i tems included in the financial  s tatements  of each en0ty are measured us ing that

func0onal  currency. At present the func0onal  currency for the Zambian subs idiaries  i s  the Zambian Kwacha

("ZM W "). The func0onal  currency of the Botswana subs idiary is  the Botswanan P ula (BW P ). The func0onal

currency for a l l  other enti ties  i s  GBP.

The presenta0onal  currency (GBP ) is  used primari ly because the Parent Company Arc Minerals  Limited is

l i s ted on AIM, a  market of the London Stock Exchange, and raises  i ts  funding in GBP.

The results  and financial  pos i0on of a l l  the Group en00es that have a func0onal  currency different from the

presentation currency are trans lated into the presentation currency as  fol lows:

·     monetary assets  and l iabi l i0es  for each balance sheet presented are trans lated at the clos ing rate at

the date of that balance sheet;

·     income and expenses  are trans lated at average exchange rates  during the accounting year; and

·   al l  resulting exchange di fferences  are recognised in other comprehensive income where materia l .

O n consol ida0on, exchange differences  aris ing from the trans la0on of the net investment in foreign en00es,

and of monetary i tems receivable from foreign subs idiaries  for which se2lement is  neither planned nor l ikely

to occur in the foreseeable future are taken to other comprehensive income. W hen a foreign opera0on is  sold,

such cumula0ve exchange differences  are subsequently reclass ified in the income statement as  part of the

gain or loss  on sale.

j.          Taxation

Tax is  recognised in the consol idated Statement of Comprehensive I ncome, except to the extent that i t relates

to i tems recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. I n this  case, the tax is  a lso

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Deferred tax is  accounted for us ing the balance sheet l iabi l i ty method in respect of temporary differences

aris ing from differences  between the carrying amount of assets  and l iabi l i0es  in the financial  s tatements  and

the corresponding tax bases  used in the computa0on of taxable profit.  However, deferred tax l iabi l i0es  are

not recognised i f they arise from the ini0al  recogni0on of goodwi l l ; deferred tax is  not accounted for i f i t

arises  from ini0al  recogni0on of an asset or l iabi l i ty in a  transac0on other than a bus iness  combina0on that

at the time of the transaction affects  neither accounting nor taxable profi t or loss .

I n principle, deferred tax l iabi l i0es  are recognised for a l l  taxable temporary differences  and deferred tax

assets  are recognised to the extent that i t i s  probable that taxable profits  wi l l  be avai lable against which

deductible temporary di fferences  can be uti l i sed.

Deferred tax l iabi l i0es  are recognised for taxable temporary differences  aris ing on investments  in

subs idiaries  and associates , and interests  in joint ventures , except where the Company is  able to control  the

reversal  of the temporary difference and i t i s  probable that the temporary difference wi l l  not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i0es  are offset when there is  a  legal ly enforceable right to offset current tax

assets  against current tax l iabi l i0es  and when the deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i0es  relate to taxes  levied by

the same taxa0on authori ty on ei ther the same taxable en0ty or different taxable en00es where there is  an

intention to settle the balances  on a net bas is .

Deferred tax is  calculated at the tax rates  that are expected to apply to the period when the asset i s  real ised or

the l iabi l i ty i s  settled. Deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i ties  are not discounted.

There has  been no tax credit or expense for the year relating to current or deferred tax.

k.         Intangible assets

Exploration and evaluation assets

Explora0on and development costs  are carried forward in respect of areas  of interest where the consol idated

en0ty's  rights  to tenure are current and where these costs  are expected to be recouped through successful

development and explora0on, or by sale. Alterna0vely, these costs  are carried forward whi le ac0ve and

significant opera0ons are con0nuing in rela0on to the areas  of interest and i t i s  too early to make reasonable

assessment of the existence or otherwise of economical ly recoverable reserves. W hen the area of interest i s

abandoned, exploration and evaluation costs  previous ly capital ised are impaired.

Costs  incurred by the Company on behalf of i ts  subs idiaries  and associated with mining development and



Costs  incurred by the Company on behalf of i ts  subs idiaries  and associated with mining development and

investment are capital ised on a project-by-project bas is  pending determina0on of the feas ibi l i ty of the

project. Costs  incurred include appropriate technical  and administra0ve expenses  but not general  overheads.

I f a  mining development project i s  successful , the related expenditures  wi l l  be wri2en-off over the es0mated

l i fe (useful  economic l i fe) of the commercial  ore reserves  on a unit of produc0on bas is . I mpairment reviews

are carried out regularly by the Directors  of the Company. W here a project i s  abandoned or is  cons idered to

be of no further commercial  value, the related costs  wi l l  be wri2en off to the Statement of Comprehensive

Income.

The recoverabi l i ty of these costs  i s  dependent upon the discovery of economical ly recoverable reserves, the

abi l i ty of the Group to obtain necessary financing to complete the development of reserves  and future

profi table production or proceeds from the disposal  of recoverable reserves.

l.          Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Critical  Accounting Estimates  and Judgements

The prepara0on of financial  s tatements  us ing accoun0ng pol icies  cons istent with I F RS requires  the Directors

to make es0mates  and assump0ons that affect the reported amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i0es , disclosure of

con0ngent assets  and l iabi l i0es  and the reported amounts  of income and expenses. The prepara0on of

financial  s tatements  a lso requires  the Directors  to exercise judgement in the process  of applying the

accoun0ng pol icies . Changes  in es0mates, assump0ons and judgements  can have a s ignificant impact on the

financial  s tatements .

Es0mates  and underlying assump0ons are reviewed on an ongoing bas is . Revis ions  to accoun0ng es0mates

are recognised prospec0vely from the period in which the es0mates  are revised. The fol lowing are the key

es0mate and assump0on uncertain0es  that have a s ignificant risk of resul0ng in a  materia l  adjustment

within the next financial  year:

(i )            Valuation of exploration, evaluation and development expenditure

Explora0on and evalua0on assets  held as  intangible fixed assets  on the statement of financial  pos i0on

comprises  a l l  costs  which are directly a2ributable to the explora0on of a  project area. The Group recognises

expenditure as  explora0on and evalua0on assets  when i t determines  that those assets  wi l l  be successful  in

finding specific mineral  resources. Expenditure capital ised as  explora0on and evalua0on assets  relates  to

the acquis i0on of rights  to explore, topographical , geological , geochemical  and geophys ical  s tudies ,

exploratory dri l l ing, trenching, sampl ing and ac0vi0es  to evaluate the technical  feas ibi l i ty and commercial

viabi l i ty of extrac0ng a mineral  resource. Capital isa0on of pre-produc0on expenditure ceases  when the

mining property is  capable of commercial  production.

(i i )           Valuation of Casa Royalty

There are a  number of key factors  which affect the valua0on of the Casa Royalty which has  a  face value of US

45m (GBP  40m). These include (a) development and construc0on 0meframe; (b) appropriate discount factor;

(c) avai labi l i ty of construction financing; (d) pol i tical  s tabi l i ty (e) gold price and (f) abi l i ty to control  timing of

receipt.

Given these uncertain0es  the Company has  elected to ass ign ni l  value to the Royalty. The Company wi l l

reassess  this  carrying value in future as  the Mis is i  Project progresses  a long the development curve.   

Further information can be found in Note 4 (d)(i i )

(i i i )          Valuation of short term investments

Short term investments  are measured ini0al ly, and subsequently revalued at repor0ng dates , at fa i r value

through profit or loss . S imi larly, changes  in fa i r value are recognised through profit and loss . Addi0onal

information is  contained in Note 17.

(iv)          Investment in associate

The investment in associate arose as  a  result of the par0al  disposal  in 2023 of Handa Resources  Limited

(Handa) as  a  subs idiary. The investment shareholding decreased from 66% (a subs idiary) to 30% (an

associate). Unico lost control  in a  series  of five contractual  arrangements  that were entered into for the

purposes  of the Joint Venture (JV) agreement with Anglo American BV. Consequently, s ingle transac0on

accoun0ng was appl ied in accoun0ng for the transac0on. See Note 14 for detai ls  of this  agreement). The

remaining investment, aSer the par0al  disposal  of Handa, was  fa ir valued as  at the date of the disposal  (See

Note 13) and has  been subsequently measured us ing the equity method at year end.

(v)           Regency recoverabi l i ty



(v)           Regency recoverabi l i ty

W hi lst outstanding for some 0me, management bel ieves, having made reasonable enquiries , that this  remains

recoverable.

m.       Equity

Equity comprises  the fol lowing:

·      "Share capital" represents  the nominal  value of the Ordinary shares;

·    "Share P remium" represents  cons idera0on less  nominal  value of i ssued shares  and costs  directly

attributable to the issue of new shares;

·      "Share based payment reserve" represents  stock options  awarded by the group;

·      "Warrant reserve" represents  warrants  granted by the group;

·      "Foreign exchange reserve" represents  the trans la0on differences  aris ing from trans la0ng the

financial  s tatement i tems from func0onal  currency to presenta0onal  currency and foreign exchange

differences  aris ing on the el imina0on of intercompany loans  forming part of the investment of

subs idiaries ;

·      "Retained earnings" represents  retained losses .

·     "Non-control l ing interest" represents  the interests  of minori ty shareholders  in the assets  and

l iabi l i ties  of the Group.

n.        Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents  comprise current balances  with banks  and s imi lar ins0tu0ons and l iquid

investments  general ly with maturi0es  of 3 months  or less . They are readi ly conver0ble into known amounts  of

cash and have an ins igni ficant risk of changes  in value.

o.        Trade and other receivables

Receivables  are recognised ini0al ly at amor0sed cost, being their ini0al  fa i r value. These are class ified as

loans  and receivables  and so are subsequently carried at amor0sed cost us ing the effec0ve interest method.

The Directors  are of the view that such i tems are col lectible and that no provis ions  are required.

p.        Financial instruments

 

(i) Classification

The Group class ifies  i ts  financial  assets  at amor0sed cost and at fa i r value through the profit or loss  or O C I .

The class ifica0on depends on the purpose for which the financial  assets  were acquired. Management

determines  the class i fication of i ts  financial  assets  at ini tia l  recognition

(ii) Recognition and measurement

Amortised cost

Regular purchases  and sales  of financial  assets  are recognised on the trade date at cost - the date on which

the Group commits  to purchas ing or sel l ing the asset. F inancial  assets  are derecognized when the rights  to

receive cash flows from the assets  have expired or have been transferred, and the Group has  transferred

substantia l ly a l l  of the risks  and rewards  of ownership. 

Fair value through the profi t or loss

Financial  assets  that do not meet the cri teria  for being measured at amor0sed cost or F VTO C I  are measured at

FVTPL.

Financial  assets  at F TVP L, are measured at fa i r value at the end of each repor0ng period, with any fa ir value

gains  or losses  recognised in profit or loss . Fair value is  determined by us ing market observable inputs  and

data as  far as  poss ible. I nputs  used in determining fa ir value measurements  are categorised into different

levels  based on how observable the inputs  used in the valua0on technique u0l ised are (the 'fa i r value

hierarchy'):

- Level  1: Quoted prices  in active markets  for identical  i tems (unadjusted)

- Level  2: Observable direct or indirect inputs  other than Level  1 inputs

- Level  3: Unobservable inputs  (i .e. not derived from market data).

The class ifica0on of an i tem into the above levels  i s  based on the lowest level  of the inputs  used that has  a

s ignificant effect on the fa ir value measurement of the i tem. Transfers  of i tems between levels  are recognised

in the period they occur.



in the period they occur.

Listed investments  are valued at clos ing bid price on 31 December 2024. For measurement purposes, financial

investments  are des ignated at fa i r value through the income statement. Gains  and losses  on the real isa0on of

investments  are recognised in the income statement for the period. The difference between the market value of

financial  instruments  and book value to the Company is  shown as  a  gain or loss  in the income statement for

the period.

(iii) Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises  an al lowance for expected credit losses  (EC Ls) for a l l  debt instruments  not held at fa i r

value through profit or loss . EC Ls  are based on the difference between the contractual  cash flows due in

accordance with the contract and al l  the cash flows that the Group expects  to receive, discounted at an

approxima0on of the original  Effec0ve I nterest Rate ("EI R"). The expected cash flows wi l l  include cash flows

from the sale of col lateral  held or other credit enhancements  that are integral  to the contractual  terms.

EC Ls  are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures  for which there has  not been a s ignificant increase in

credit risk s ince ini0al  recogni0on, EC Ls  are provided for credit losses  that result from default events  that are

poss ible within the next 12-months  (a  12-month EC L). For those credit exposures  for which there has  been a

s ignificant increase in credit risk s ince ini0al  recogni0on, a  loss  a l lowance is  required for credit losses

expected over the remaining l i fe of the exposure, i rrespective of the timing of the default (a  l i fetime ECL).

For trade receivables  (not subject to provis ional  pricing) and other receivables  due in less  than 12 months,

the Group appl ies  the s impl ified approach in calcula0ng EC Ls , as  permi2ed by I F RS 9. Therefore, the Group

does not track changes  in credit risk, but instead, recognises  a  loss  a l lowance based on the financial  asset's

l i fetime ECL at each reporting date.

The Group cons iders  a  financial  asset in default when contractual  payments  are 90 days  past due. However,

in certain cases , the Group may also cons ider a  financial  asset to be in default when internal  or external

informa0on indicates  that the Group is  unl ikely to receive the outstanding contractual  amounts  in ful l  before

taking into account any credit enhancements  held by the Group. A financial  asset i s  wri2en off when there is

no reasonable expecta0on of recovering the contractual  cash flows and usual ly occurs  when past due for

more than one year and not subject to enforcement activi ty.

At each repor0ng date, the Group assesses  whether financial  assets  carried at amor0sed cost are credit

impaired. A financial  asset i s  credit-impaired when one or more events  that have a detrimental  impact on the

estimated future cash flows of the financial  asset have occurred.

(iv) Derecognition

The Group derecognises  a  financial  asset only when the contractual  rights  to the cash flows from the asset

expire, or when i t transfers  the financial  asset and substan0al ly a l l  the risks  and rewards  of ownership of the

asset to another enti ty.

O n derecogni0on of a  financial  asset measured at amor0sed cost, the difference between the asset's  carrying

amount and the sum of the cons idera0on received and receivable is  recognised in profit or loss . This  i s  the

same treatment for a  financial  asset measured at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities

Financial  l iabi l i0es  are class ified, at ini0al  recogni0on, as  financial  l iabi l i0es  at fa i r value through profit or

loss , loans  and borrowings, payables , or as  deriva0ves  des ignated as  hedging instruments  in an effec0ve

hedge, as  appropriate. Al l  financial  l iabi l i0es  are recognised ini0al ly at fa i r value and, in the case of loans

and borrowings  and payables , net of directly a2ributable transac0on costs . The Group's  financial  l iabi l i0es

include trade and other payables  and loans.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial  l iabi l i ties  depends on their class i fication, as  described below:

Trade and other payables

ASer ini0al  recogni0on, trade and other payables  are subsequently measured at amor0sed cost us ing the

Effec0ve I nterest Rate ("EI R") method. Gains  and losses  are recognised in the statement of profit or loss  and

other comprehensive income when the l iabi l i0es  are derecognised, as  wel l  as  through the EI R amor0sa0on

process .

Amor0sed cost i s  calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquis i0on and fees  or costs

that are an integral  part of the EI R. The EI R amor0sa0on is  included as  finance costs  in the statement of profit

or loss  and other comprehensive income.



Derecognition

A financial  l iabi l i ty i s  derecognised when the associated obl igation is  discharged or cancel led or expires .

W hen an exis0ng financial  l iabi l i ty i s  replaced by another from the same lender on substan0al ly different

terms, or the terms of an exis0ng l iabi l i ty are substan0al ly modified, such an exchange or modifica0on is

treated as  the derecognition of the original  l iabi l i ty and the recognition of a  new l iabi l i ty. The di fference in the

respective carrying amounts  is  recognised in profi t or loss  and other comprehensive income.

Financial  l iabi l i0es  included in trade and other payables  are recognised ini0al ly at fa i r value and

subsequently at amortised cost.

Fair value measurement

IFRS 13 establ ishes  a  s ingle source of guidance for a l l  fa i r value measurements . IFRS 13 does  not change when

an enti ty i s  required to use fa ir value but rather provides  guidance on how to measure fa ir value under IFRS

when fair value is  require or permitted. The resulting calculations  under IFRS 13 affected the principles  that

the Company uses  to assess  the fa ir value, but the assessment of fa i r value under IFRS 13 has  not materia l ly

changed the fa ir values  recognised or disclosed. IFRS 13 mainly impacts  the disclosures  of the Company. It

requires  speci fic disclosures  about fa i r value measurements  and disclosures  of fa i r values, some of which

replace existing disclosure requirements  in other standards.

q.        Property, plant and equipment

P roperty, plant and equipment is  s tated at cost less  accumulated deprecia0on and any accumulated

impairment losses . 

Deprecia0on is  provided on al l  property, plant and equipment to write off the cost less  es0mated res idual

value of each asset at 25% on a straight-l ine bas is .

P roperty, plant and equipment are tested for impairment i f events  or changes  in ci rcumstances  (assessed at

each reporting date) indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

r.         Impairment of assets

The Group assesses  at each repor0ng date whether there is  an indica0on that an asset may be impaired.  I f

any such indica0on exists , or when annual  impairment tes0ng for an asset i s  required, the Group makes  an

estimate of the asset's  recoverable amount. 

An asset's  recoverable amount is  the higher of i ts  fa i r value less  costs  to sel l  and i ts  value in use. This  i s

determined for an individual  asset, unless  the asset does  not generate cash inflows that are largely

independent of those from other assets  or groups of assets , and the asset's  value in use cannot be es0mated

to be close to i ts  fa i r value.  I n such cases, the asset i s  tested for impairment as  part of the cash-genera0ng

unit to which i t belongs.  W hen the carrying amount of an asset or cash-genera0ng unit exceeds i ts

recoverable amount, i t i s  cons idered impaired and is  wri tten down to i ts  recoverable amount.

I n assess ing value in use, es0mated future cash flows are discounted to their present value us ing a  pre-tax

discount rate that reflects  current market assessments  of the 0me value of money and the risks  specific to the

asset.  I mpairment losses  rela0ng to con0nuing opera0ons are recognised in those expense categories

consistent with the func0on of the impaired asset, unless  the asset i s  carried at revalued amount (in which

case the impairment loss  i s  treated as  a  revaluation decrease). 

An assessment is  a lso made at each repor0ng date as  to whether there is  any indica0on that previous ly

recognised impairment losses  may no longer exist or may have decreased.  I f such indica0on exists , the

recoverable amount is  es0mated.  A previous ly recognised impairment loss  i s  reversed only i f there has  been

a change in the es0mates  used to determine the asset's  recoverable amount s ince the last impairment loss

was recognised.  I f that i s  the case, the carrying amount of the asset i s  increased to i ts  recoverable amount. 

That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of

deprecia0on, had no impairment loss  been recognised for the asset in prior years .  Such reversal  i s

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income unless  the asset i s  carried at revalued amount, in which

case the reversal  i s  treated as  a  revalua0on increase.  ASer such a reversal , the deprecia0on charge is

adjusted in future periods  to a l locate the asset's  revised carrying amount, less  any res idual  value, on a

systematic bas is  over i ts  remaining useful  l i fe. 

s.         Share-based payments

The Group provides  benefits  to senior personnel , consultants  and advisors  of the Group in the form of share-

based payments , whereby such par0es  render services  in exchange for shares  or rights  over shares  (equity-

settled transactions). 

The cost of these equity-se2led transac0ons with such par0es  is  measured by reference to the fa ir value of the



equity instruments  at the date at which they are granted.  The fa ir value is  determined by us ing a  Black-

Scholes  model . 

I n valuing equity-se2led transac0ons, no account is  taken of any performance condi0ons, other than

conditions  l inked to the price of the shares  of Arc Minerals  Limited (market conditions) i f appl icable. 

The cost of equity-se2led transac0ons is  recognised, together with a  corresponding increase in equity, over

the period in which the performance and/or service condi0ons are fulfil led, ending on the date on which the

relevant party become ful ly enti tled to the award (the vesting period). 

The cumula0ve expense recognised for equity-se2led transac0ons at each repor0ng date un0l  ves0ng date

reflects :

(i )            the extent to which the vesting period has  expired, and;

(i i )           the Group's  best estimate of the number of equity instruments  that wi l l  ul timately vest.

No adjustment is  made for the l ikel ihood of market performance condi0ons being met, as  the effect of these

condi0ons is  included in the determina0on of fa i r value at grant date.  The charge to the I ncome Statement for

a period represents  the movement in cumula0ve expense recognised as  at the beginning and end of that

period. 

No expense is  recognised for awards  that do not ul0mately vest, except for awards  where ves0ng is  only

conditional  upon a market condition. 

Upon expiry, the associated por0on of the share op0on reserve is  derecognised and recorded against retained

losses.

The di lu0ve effect, i f any, of outstanding op0ons is  reflected as  addi0onal  share di lu0on in the computa0on

of earnings/ (loss) per share. 

t.         Earnings per share

Basic EPS is  calculated as  profi t attributable to equity holders  of the parent for the period, adjusted to exclude

any costs  of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares , adjusted for any bonus element. Ful ly-di luted EP S adjusts  Bas ic EP S to reflect the impact i f a l l  share

purchase warrants  and options  were exercised.

u.        Borrowings

Borrowings  are recognised ini0al ly at fa i r value, net of transac0on costs  incurred.  Borrowings  are

subsequently carried at amortised cost; any di fference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the

redemp0on value is  recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings, us ing the effec0ve

interest method.

Fees  paid on the establ ishment of loan faci l i0es  are recognised as  transac0on costs  of the loan to the extent

that i t i s  probable that some or a l l  of the faci l i ty wi l l  be drawn down.  To the extent that there is  no evidence

that i t i s  probable that some or a l l  of the faci l i ty wi l l  be drawn down, the fee is  capital ised as  a  prepayment

for l iquidity services  and amortised over the period of the faci l i ty to which i t relates .

Borrowings  are class ified as  current l iabi l i0es  unless  the group has  an uncondi0onal  right to defer

settlement of the l iabi l i ty for at least 12 months  after the end of the reporting period.

 

2.      Segmental analysis

Segment informa0on has  been determined based on the informa0on reviewed by the Board for the purposes  of

al locating resources  and assess ing performance.  No revenue is  currently being generated.

Head office ac0vi0es  are administra0ve in nature whi lst the ac0vi0es  in Zambia and Botswana relate to

exploration and development work.

Segment results , assets  and l iabi l i0es  include i tems directly a2ributable to a  segment as  wel l  as  those that

can be al locate on a reasonable bas is .

31 December 2024 BVI Zambia Botswana Total
 £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's

Result
Ga i n / (l os s ) from con0nui ng
ope ra ti ons

(455) (1,546) (69) (2,070)

(455) (1,546) (69) (2,070)



Gain / (loss) before Income Tax (455) (1,546) (69) (2,070)

Other information
Non-control l i ng i nte re s t 190 - (18) 172

190 - (18) 172

Assets
Non-curre nt As s e ts - 6,413 2,370 8,783
Inve s tme nt i n a s s oci a te 912 - 912
Inve s tme nts  a t fa i r va l ue  through
profi t a nd l os s

- - - -

Curre nt a s s e ts  e xcl udi ng ca s h a nd
ca s h e qui va l e nts

1,836 - - 1,836

Ca s h a nd e qui va l e nts 1,613 - 22 1,635
Consolidated total assets 3,449 7,325 2,392 13,166

Liabilities
Non-curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s - - (103) (103)
Curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s (1,528) (6) (133) (1,667)

Consolidated total liabilities (1,528) (6) (236) (1,770)

 

 
31 December 2023 BVI Zambia Botswana Total
 £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's

Result
Los s  / (Ga i n) from con0nui ng
ope ra ti ons

4,395 2,735 (37) 7,093

Loss before Income Tax 4,395 2,735 (37) 7,093

Other information
Non-control l i ng i nte re s t - - 3 3

- - 3 3

Assets
Non-curre nt As s e ts - 8,989 1,699 10,688
Inve s tme nts  a t fa i r va l ue  through
profi t a nd l os s

68 - - 68

Curre nt a s s e ts  e xcl udi ng ca s h a nd
ca s h e qui va l e nts

1,858 - 1 1,859

Ca s h a nd e qui va l e nts 279 - 2 281

Consolidated total assets 2,205 8,989 1,702 12,896
- - - -

Liabilities
Non-curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s - - (105) (105)
Curre nt l i a bi l i ti e s (2,241) - (3) (2,244)

Consolidated total liabilities (2,241) - (108) (2,349)

3.      Expenses by nature

31 Dec
2024

31 De c
2023

Note £ 000's £ 000's
Di re ctors ' fe e s 7 608 1,538
Offi ce  e xpe ns e s 103 121
Tra ve l  a nd s ubs i s te nce  e xpe ns e s 48 46
Profe s s i ona l  fe e s  - l e ga l , cons ul ti ng, e xpl ora ti on 350 1,006
AIM re l a te d cos ts  i ncl udi ng Publ i c Re l a ti ons 276 204
Audi tor's  re mune ra ti on - a udi t 75 50
Ga i n on di s pos a l  of i nve s tme nt 17 (28) 1,673
Long te rm Angl o re ce i va bl e  - unwi ndi ng of pre s e nt
va l ue (401) -
Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts 111 -
Othe r e xpe ns e s 3 (82)
Copa l a  group a dmi ni s tra ti on cos ts 13 -
Al vi s -Cre s t a dmi ni s tra ti on cos ts 69 37
Ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  on fore i gn e xcha nge (175) 474
Tota l  ope ra ti ng e xpe ns e s 1,052 5,067

 

Auditors Remuneration

During the year, the Group obtained the fol lowing services  from the Company's  auditor:
31 Dec

2024
31 De c

2023
£ 000's £ 000's

Fe e s  pa ya bl e  to the  a udi tor for the  a udi t of the  cons ol i da te d
fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts  - curre nt fi na nci a l  ye a r

 
60

 
50

Fe e s  pa ya bl e  to the  a udi tor for the  a udi t of the  cons ol i da te d
fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  - pri or fina nci a l  ye a r (not a ccrue d i n pri or
ye a r)

 
15

 
-

Tota l 75 50

 

Employee information



Employee information

The average number of persons  employed in the Group through payrol l  was  ni l  (2023 - ni l ) at a  cost of ni l

(2023 - ni l ). See Note 7 for detai ls  of key management remuneration.

 

4.      Disposals of held for sale assets

Handa Disposal as part of Anglo Joint Venture

O n 12 May 2022 the Company announced that i t, together with i ts  partners , had entered into an agreement

with Anglo American with the inten0on to form a joint venture in respect of i ts  Zambian copper interests .  The

key commercial  terms of the Joint Venture were that, upon s igning of a  binding Joint Venture Agreement ("JV

Agreement"), Anglo American would have an ini0al  ownership interest of 70% with Arc and i ts  partners

holding the balance via  Unico Minerals  Ltd ("Unico") in which Arc wi l l  have a 67% interest with the balance

held by i ts  partners . O n 20 Apri l  2023, the JV Agreement was s igned subject to comple0ng certain condi0ons

precedent including a  restructuring of the Group's  assets , obtaining approvals  from relevant government and

regulatory authori0es  and other customary condi0ons. O n 10 November 2023 (the Effec0ve Date), the

Company satis fied the Conditions  Precedent (see Note 14).

The related financial  information is  set out below:

a)  Results  of disposal  group prior to disposal
Nov

2023
Nov

2023
Ha nda
Group Tota l

£ 000's £ 000's
Admi ni s tra ti ve  Expe ns e s - (24)

Los s  be fore  i ncome  ta x - (24)

Income  ta x - -

Los s  a fte r ta x - (24)

Los s  from di s conti nue d ope ra ti ons - (24)
Othe r compre he ns i ve  i ncome  from
di s conti nue d ope ra ti ons

- -

 

b)  Cash flows of disposal  group prior to disposal
Nov

2023
Nov

2023
Ha nda
Group Tota l

£ 000's £ 000's
Ope ra ti ng a cti vi ti e s (177) (177)

Inve s ti ng a cti vi ti e s - -

Fi na nci ng a cti vi ti e s 172 172

Ca s h us e d (5) (5)

 

c)  Assets  and l iabi l i ties  of disposal  group

 
Nov              

2023
Nov              

2023
Ha nda
Group Tota l

£ 000's £ 000's
Inta ngi bl e  a s s e ts 2,406 2,406
Inve s tme nt i n s ubs i di a ry 219 219
Fi xe d a s s e ts 4 4
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s  401  401
Long-te rm pa ya bl e s (223) (223)
Tota l 2,807 2,807

 

 

d)  Disposal  group on 10 November 2023
Nov              

2023
Nov              

2023
Ha nda
Group Tota l

£ 000's £ 000's
As s e ts  3,030  3,030
Li a bi l i ti e s  (223)  (223)
Ne t As s e t Va l ue  on 10 Nove mbe r 2023  2,807  2,807

 

 



5.      Taxation

31 Dec
2024

£'000

31 Dec
2023

£'000
  

Curre nt i ncome  ta x cha rge - -
De fe rre d ta x cha rge / (cre di t) - -
Total taxation charge/ (credit) - -

Taxation reconciliation

The charge for the year can be reconci led to the loss  per the consol idated statement of comprehensive income:
 31 Dec

2024
31 Dec

2023
 £'000 £'000
(Income)/Loss before income tax 2,070 (7,093)

Ta x on (i ncome )/ l os s  a t the  we i ghte d a ve ra ge  Corpora te  ta x ra te  of 6.2% (De c
2023: 25.2%)
Effe cts  of:
Pe rma ne nt di ffe re nce s
Ta x l os s e s  ca rri e d forwa rd
Los s e s  not s ubje ct to corpora ti on ta x

(479)
 
-
-

479

(697)
 
-
-

697

Total income tax expense - -

 

The weighted average appl icable tax rate of 6.2% (2023: 25.20%) used is  a  combina0on of the 0% corpora0on

tax in the BVI  (2023:0%), 30% corpora0on tax in Zambia (2023: 30%) and 22% corpora0on tax in Botswana

(2023: 22%).

A deferred tax asset has  not been provided for in accordance with I AS 12 due to uncertainty as  to when profits

wi l l  be generated against which to rel ieve any such asset. The Group does  not have a materia l  deferred tax

l iabi l i ty at the year end.

The tax rate used is  the weighted average rate of the Bri0sh Virgin I s lands, the Republ ic of Botswana and the

Republ ic of Zambia (up to the date of the disposal  of the Zambian subs idiaries). Unused taxable losses

avai lable in Botswana approximate BW P  1.563M (£91k) at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023 - BW P  367k

(£22k)).

6.      Distribution

Unico distributed to i ts  shareholders  £789k (31 December 2023 £2,863k) of which 67% £ 528k (31 December

2023 £1,918) was  distributed to the Company on 27 November 2024. The net di fference of £261k (31 December

2023 £945k) was  the distribution to Unico's  minori ty shareholder.

 

7.      Key management remuneration

 
31 Dec

2024
31 Dec

2023
 £ 000's £ 000's
Ke y ma na ge me nt re mune ra ti on 1,572 1,501

 
31 December 2024  Short term

benefits
Bonus Share based

payments
Total

  £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's
Executive Directors      
Ni chol a s  von Schi rndi ng 310 - - 310

 
Non-Executive Directors      
Bri a n McMa s te r 48 - - 48
Va l e nti ne  Chi ta l u 48 - - 48
Ré my We l s chi nge r(i) 202 - - 202

 
Key Management Personnel      
Ia n Lynch (CFO) 135 - - 135
Va s s i l i os  Ca re l l a s  (COO) 164 - - 164

 
907 - - 907

 
31 December 2023  Short term

benefits
Bonus(iv) Share based

payments
Total

  £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's
Executive Directors      
Ni chol a s  von Schi rndi ng 309 225 - 534
Ré my We l s chi nge r
(1 Ja n 2023 to 31 Oct 2023)(i)

194 171 - 365



(1 Ja n 2023 to 31 Oct 2023)(i)

 
Non-Executive Directors      
Bri a n McMa s te r 48 24 - 72
Va l e nti ne  Chi ta l u 48 24 - 72
Ré my We l s chi nge r
(1 Nov 2023 to 31 De c 2023)

39 - - 39

Ca l e b Mul e nga
(1 Ja n 2023 to 27 Ma r 2023)(ii)

12 - - 12

 
Key Management Personnel      
Ia n Lynch (CFO)
(1 Nov 2023 to 31 De c 2023)(iii)

22 101 - 123

Va s s i l i os  Ca re l l a s  (COO) 164 120 - 284
 

836 665 - 1,501

 

(i) Includes contractual notice with respect to R Welschinger's former office as Finance Director.

(ii) C Mulenga resigned effective 27 March 2023.

(iii) I Lynch was appointed to the office of Chief Financial Officer in November 2023.

(iv) This represents 50% of bonuses declared in 2023 on a deferred basis with the balance payable in 2024, in cash or in shares at

the discretion of Management.

 

8.      Earnings (loss) per share

The calcula0on of Earnings  per share is  based on the profit/ (loss) a2ributable to equity holders  divided by

the weighted average number of shares  in issue during the year. 

31 Dec
2024

31 De c
2023

£ 000's £ 000's
Ga i n/(Los s ) Ga i n (1,907) 7,069

 
We i ghte d a ve ra ge  numbe r of ordi na ry s ha re s  (000s ) 1,398,572 1,226,801

 
Pote nti a l  di l ute d we i ghte d a ve ra ge  numbe r of s ha re s  (000s )(ii) 1,654,661 1,247,549

 
Ba s i c e a rni ngs  pe r s ha re  (e xpre s s e d i n pe nce ) (0.15) 0.58
Ne t Profi t (l os s ) pe r s ha re  conti nui ng ope ra ti ons  - Ba s i c (0.15) 0.58

Ne t Profi t (l os s ) pe r s ha re  conti nui ng ope ra ti ons  - Di l ute d (i) n/a 0.57
Ne t Profi t (l os s ) pe r s ha re  di s conti nue d ope ra ti ons  - Ba s i c - -

Ne t Profi t (l os s ) pe r s ha re  di s conti nue d ope ra ti ons  - Di l ute d (i) n/a -

 

(i) Due to the loss in 2024, the effect of options and warrants in calculating a diluted loss per share would be anti-dilutive and was

therefore not calculated.

(ii) The potential diluted weighted average number of shares as at 31 Dec 2023 has been corrected for a clerical error and the

relevant diluted net earnings per share for the year ended 31 Dec 2023 has been restated.

 

9.      Long term payables

31 Dec
2024

31 De c
2023

£ 000's £ 000's
Mi nori ty s ha re hol de r l oa ns 103 105

103 105

 

·    The minori ty shareholder loans  are payable to the minori ty shareholder Alvis -Crest (P roprietary)

Limited in the amount of BW P  1,797,430 (GBP  103k), as  at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:

BW P  1,797,430 (GBP  105k)). The loans  are unsecured and loan holders  have agreed to rol l

forward the loans  unti l  a  l iquidity event occurs .

·     The minori ty shareholder loans  rank equal ly with Arc's  working capital  loan to Alvis -Crest of

BW P  23,231,411 (GBP  1.327M) (31 December 2023: BW P  12,055,723 (GBP  704k)), which is

el iminated on consol ida0on. The loans  are unsecured and loan holders  have agreed to rol l

forward the loans  unti l  a  l iquidity event occurs .

 

10.   Intangible assets

De fe rre d Tota l



De fe rre d
Expl ora ti on

As s e ts

Tota l

Al vi s -Cre s t  
£ 000's £ 000's  

 
At 1 Jan 2024 1,699 1,699  
Addi ti ons 671 671  
Tra ns fe r of i nta ngi bl e s - -  
Di s pos a l  of Ha nda  Group - -  
Curre ncy ga i n/(l os s ) - -  
Net book value as at 31 Dec 2024 2,370 2,370  

 

 
De fe rre d Expl ora ti on As s e ts Tota l

Za co Ha nda Al vi s -Cre s t
£ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's

Cost
At 1 Jan 2023 1,103 2,162 1,968 5,233
Addi ti ons 9 - 56 65
Tra ns fe r of i nta ngi bl e s - - - -
Di s pos a l  of Ha nda  Group (729) (1,683) (301) (2,713)
Curre ncy ga i n/(l os s ) (383) (479) (24) (886)
Net book value as at 31 Dec 2023 - - 1,699 1,699

 

The Group's  I ntangible assets  are comprised of evalua0on and explora0on rights  and explora0on expenses

with respect to the l icences  in Botswana.

The explora0on project in Botswana is  at an early stage of development and there is  no JO RC (Joint O re

Reserves  Commi2ee) or non-JO RC compl iant resource es0mates  avai lable to enable value in use calcula0ons

to be prepared.

The Directors  have undertaken a review to assess  whether ci rcumstances  exist which could indicate the

existence of impairment as  fol lows:

·      The Group no longer has  ti tle to mineral  leases.

·      A decis ion has  been taken by the Board to discon0nue explora0on due to the absence of a

commercial  level  of reserves.

·      Sufficient data exists  to indicate that the costs  incurred wi l l  not be ful ly recovered from future

development and participation.

Fol lowing their assessment, the Directors  concluded that no impairment indicators  exist which would require

a formal  impairment assessment and therefore that no impairment has  been recognised.

 

11.   Fixed Assets

Motor
Ve hi cl e s

Furni ture  &
Fi tti ngs Tota l

£ 000's £ 000's £ 000's
Cost
At 1 Jan 2023 37 2 39
Di s pos a l s (25) (2) (27)
Addi ti ons - - -
Fore i gn e xcha nge - - -
At 31 Dec 2023 12 - 12

At 1 Jan 2024 12 - 12
Di s pos a l s - - -
Addi ti ons - - -
Fore i gn e xcha nge - - -
At 31 Dec 2024 12 - 12

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 Jan 2023 (26) (1) (27)
Di s pos a l s 16 1 17
Za ms ort tra ns fe r - - -
De pre ci a ti on (2) - (2)
Re cl a s s i fi ca ti on of fi xe d a s s e ts  to he l d for s a l e  a s s e ts - - -
Fore i gn e xcha nge - - -
At 31 Dec 2023 (12) - (12)

At 1 Jan 2024 (12) (-) (12)
Di s pos a l s - - -
Za ms ort tra ns fe r - - -
De pre ci a ti on - - -
Re cl a s s i fi ca ti on of fi xe d a s s e ts  to he l d for s a l e  a s s e ts - - -
Fore i gn e xcha nge - - -
At 31 Dec 2024 (12) - (12)



At 31 Dec 2024 (12) - (12)

Ne t book va l ue  - 31 De c 2023 - - -

Net book value - 31 Dec 2024 - - -

Motor
Ve hi cl e s

Furni ture  &
Fi tti ngs Tota l

£ 000's £ 000's £ 000's

12.   Investment in subsidiary and associate companies 

At 31 December 2024, the Company held interests  in the share capital  of the fol lowing subs idiary and

associate companies .

Company Place of Business
Ownership
Held (%)

Direct/
Indirect

Ownership Nature of business
Al vi s -Cre s t (Propri e ta ry)
Li mi te d Re publ i c of Bots wa na 75% Di re ct Mi ne ra l  Expl ora ti on

Uni co Mi ne ra l s  Li mi te d Bri ti s h Vi rgi n Is l a nds 67% Di re ct Hol di ng Compa ny

Ha nda  Re s ource s  Li mi te d Re publ i c of Za mbi a 30% Indi re ct Mi ne ra l  Expl ora ti on

Copa l a  Hol di ngs  Li mi te d Bri ti s h Vi rgi n Is l a nds 100% Di re ct Hol di ng Compa ny

Fore l a nd Mi ne ra l s  Li mi te d Re publ i c of Za mbi a 100% Di re ct Mi ne ra l  Expl ora ti on

 

Unico Minerals Limited registered office at Craigmuir Chambers, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands, VG 1110.

Handa Resources Limited registered office at Plot No. 1266, Haile Selassie Avenue, Longacres, Lusaka, Zambia - Handa was a

subsidiary of the Company until it was disposed as part of the joint venture agreement to Anglo American Exploration BV - see

Note 14.

Alvis Crest (Proprietary) Limited is registered at Desert Secretarial Services (Pty) Limited, Plot 64518, Deloitte House, Fairground,

PO Box 211008, Bontleng, Gaborone, Botswana.

Copala Holdings Limited registered office at Craigmuir Chambers, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands, VG 1110.

Foreland Minerals Limited registered office at Plot No. A5562, Chamba Valley, Lusaka, Zambia.

The non-control l ing interest shown within the primary statement arises  as  a  result of the Group owning less

than 100% of a  subs idiary company.

 

13.   Investment in Associate

Ha nda
Group

Ha nda
Group

31 De c
2024

31 De c
2023

£ 000's £ 000's
Opening balance 2,458 -
At a cqui s i 0on fa i r va l ue  of a s s oci a te  a t 10 Nov
2023 (Note  14)

 
- 3,149

Sha re  of l os s e s (1,546) (691)
At 31 Dec 2024 912 2,458

The I nvestment in Associate comprises  of the investment in Handa Resources  Limited (Group), being the

vehicle for the joint venture with Anglo American BV ("Anglo"), which was acquired on 10 November 2023

fol lowing satis faction of a l l  conditions  precedent. Detai ls  of the joint venture are set out in Note 14.

Anglo's  accoun0ng pol icy requires  explora0on expenditure to be expensed through profit and loss . As  such,

the share of losses  includes  the Group's  share of explora0on expenditure incurred during the period 1

January to 31 December 2024.

During 2023, the Group submi2ed three mining l icense appl ica0ons as  part of preparing for comple0on of the

JV with a  subs idiary of Anglo American, being 33402-H Q -LM L, 33403-H Q -LM L and 33404-H Q -LM L over the

explora0on l icenses  23004-H Q -LEL and 19906-H Q -LEL. Al l  of the mining l icence appl ica0ons were approved

and val idated by the Mining Cadastre Department and, fol lowing submiss ion of the subsequent requis i te

documenta0on, the Mines  Advisory Commi2ee (M AC) was  expected to meet to review the final ised LM L

appl ications  prior to issuance of the Mining Licenses.

As  announced on 17 June 2024, the Mining Cadastre Department publ ished the results  of the M AC mee0ng

pursuant to which these appl ica0ons and were rejected and Zaco I nvestments  Limited's  appl ica0on with

respect to 23004-H Q -LEL was marked as  deferred pending an informa0on request. As  the appl ica0ons were

val idly submi2ed and val idated by the Zambian Mining Cadastre, the Company has  been advised that Handa

and Zaco wi l l  be appeal ing the decis ion of the Mining Licence Commi2ee to reject the Mining Licence

Appl ica0ons and are engaging with the Mining Cadastre to have the appeal  heard as  soon as  poss ible so that

the appl ications  can be reinstated and/or cons idered pos itively in accordance with the law.

W ith the excep0on of the l icence men0oned above, none of the Company's  other l icences  were affected by the

recent Mining Licence Commi2ee Mee0ng review and Anglo con0nued to mobi l i se for the planned explora0on

activi ties .



activi ties .

14.   Joint Venture Agreement with Anglo American

O n 12 May 2022 the Company announced that i t, together with i ts  partners , had entered into an agreement

with Anglo American with the inten0on to form a joint venture in respect of i ts  Zambian copper interests .  The

key commercial  terms of the Joint Venture were that, upon s igning of a  binding Joint Venture Agreement ("JV

Agreement"), Anglo American would have an ini0al  ownership interest of 70% with Arc and i ts  partners

holding the balance via  Unico Minerals  Ltd ("Unico") in which Arc wi l l  have a 67% interest. O n 20 Apri l  2023,

the JV Agreement was s igned subject to comple0ng certain condi0ons precedent including a  restructuring of

the Group's  assets , obtaining approvals  from relevant government and regulatory authori0es  and other

customary condi0ons. O n 10 November 2023 (the "Effec0ve Date"), the Company announced that i t had

satis fied the conditions  precedent. The key commercial  terms of the Joint Venture are as  fol lows:

Handa Resources  Limited - the Joint Venture vehicle - was  recons0tuted to reflect the ini0al  ownership

interests  of Anglo American and Unico of 70% and 30%, respectively ("Ini tia l  Ownership Interests");

·      Anglo American has  the right to retain an Ownership Interest of 51%, by:

funding exploration expenditures  equal  to USD 24,000,000 on or before the date that i s  180 days

after the third anniversary of the Effective Date ("Phase I End Date"); and making cash payments  to

Unico total l ing up to USD 14,500,000, as  fol lows:

·      USD 3,500,000, which was received on 13 November 2023;

·      USD 1,000,000, which was received on 27 November 2024;

·      The balance receivable of USD 11M becomes due as  fol lows:

o  USD 1,000,000 on the second anniversary of the Effective Date;

o  USD 1,000,000 on the third anniversary of the Effective Date; and

o  USD 8,000,000 by the Phase I End Date.

Fol lowing the completion of Phase I, Anglo American wi l l  have the right to retain an additional  ownership

interest equal  to 9% (for a  total  ownership interest of 60%) by funding USD 20,000,000 of additional

exploration expenditures  within 2 years  of the Phase I End Date ("Phase II  End Date")

Fol lowing the comple0on of P hase I I , Anglo American wi l l  have the right to retain an addi0onal  ownership

interest equal  to 10% (for a  total  ownership interest of 70%) by funding US D 30,000,000 within 2 years  of the

Phase II  End Date ("Phase III  End Date").

During the period up to the P hase I I I  End Date, 30% of the total  funds  contributed by Anglo wi l l  be deemed to

have been contributed by Unico Minerals  Limited ("Deemed Contribu0on"). The Deemed Contribu0on is  not

reflected in these accounts  and wi l l  be ful ly calculated and reconci led with the records  of Handa at the end of

each phase of the JV.

Anglo American, for as  long as  i t holds  the largest interest in the Joint Venture, shal l  have the right to

nominate three directors  and Unico shal l  have the right to nominate two directors . Joint Venture board

decis ions  shal l  be adopted by s imple majori ty vote.

 

Detai ls  of the group's  gain on disposal  of the Zaco and Handa subs idiaries  i s  as  fol lows:

Group
31 Dec 2023

£ 000's

Total Proceeds 10,497

Ne t As s e t Va l ue  of Za co
Re ta i ne d Ea rni ngs 225

Sha re  Ca pi ta l (219)

Sha re  Pre mi um (990)

Profi t for the  ye a r 34

(950)

Unico's 72.5% share of the Net Asset Value (690)

Net Asset Value of Handa
Re ta i ne d Ea rni ngs 132
Sha re  Ca pi ta l (172)
Sha re  Pre mi um (1,818)



Sha re  Pre mi um (1,818)
Profi t for the  ye a r 0

Cons i de ra ti on (1,858)

Arc's 66% share of the Net Asset Value (1,226)
Fair value uplift on recognition of the Handa JV 2,352

Group gain on disposal of subsidiaries 10,933

 

Fol lowing the transaction with Anglo, the group's  interest in Handa reduced to 30% and as  part of the disposal

accoun0ng, the directors  assessed that their interest in Handa would be accounted for an investment in

associate and the value of the investment amounted to £3.149m that they have deemed on recognition.

 

15.   Receivables

 

Long-term receivables Group Group
31 Dec

2024
31 Dec

2023
£ 000's £ 000's

Re ce i va bl e  - Angl o JV (USD 8M) 6,261 6,531
Total 6,261 6,531

 

Trade and other receivables Group Group
31 Dec

2024
31 Dec

2023
£ 000's £ 000's

Re ce i va bl e  - Angl o JV (USD 1M) 798 744
Re ce i va bl e  - Ca s a  Sa l e  (USD 1.25M) 999 982
Othe r Re ce i va bl e s 191 121
Pre pa yme nts - 12
Total 1,988 1,859

 

Receivable - Anglo JV

The £798k is  due in November 2025, being the sterl ing equivalent of the net present value of US D 1M

receivable upon the second anniversary of the Effective Date of the Anglo JV. A long-term receivable component

of £6.261M has  been recognised, represen0ng the net present value of the remaining US D 9M proceeds aris ing

from the Anglo JV agreement by the P hase I  End Date. The total  proceeds had a nominal  value of US D 14.5M

and was discounted at a  rate of 5.5% and a US D/GBP  exchange rate of £ 0.80. See Note 14 for detai ls  of

amounts  receivable pursuant to the joint venture agreement with Anglo American.

Receivable - Casa Sale

I ncluded in receivables  at 31 December 2024 is  £999k (US D 1.25M) (2023: £982k (US D1.25M)) to reflect the

overdue Consideration Shares  due to Arc in relation to the disposal  of Casa Mining Limited:

As  announced on 29 Apri l  2022, Regency Mining Ltd ("Regency") acquired a 73.5% interest in the Mis is i  gold

project ("Mis is i  P roject") from Golden Square Equity Partners  Limited ("Golden Square"), replacing Rackla

Metals  I nc. as  the acquiror of Mis is i . The terms of the transac0on were that Arc would be paid US D 250,000 in

cash and the equivalent of US D 1,250,000 in shares  in a  publ icly l i s ted company in Canada ("Considera0on

Shares"). The agreement a lso provided Arc with a  royalty agreement on the same terms as  the previous  royalty

agreement announced on 5 May 2021.

O n 30 June 2023, the Company received the first cash payment of US D 125,000 towards  the US D 1,500,000

receivable from the disposal  of i ts  Casa interests . O n 12 September 2023, the Company received the second

cash payment of US D 125,000, bringing the aggregate cash payments  received by the Company to date to US D

250,000. The balance of US D 1,250,000 is  to be se2led by the issuance of l i s ted stock which has  been delayed

due to corresponding delays  in the l i s0ng process  of the underlying en0ty. Management con0nues to fol low

up on progress  and the directors  cons ider the balance recoverable.

The carrying amounts  of the Group's  trade and other receivables  are denominated in the fol lowing currencies :

Group Group
31 Dec
2024

31 Dec
2023

Current trade and other receivables £ 000's £ 000's
UK Pounds 191 132
US Dol l a rs 1,409 1,726
Za mbi a n Kwa cha - -
Bots wa na  Pul a - 1
Total 1,600 1,859



Total 1,600 1,859

 

16.   Royalties

Net Smelter Royalty - Casa Mining Ltd

O n 18 March 2020 the Company announced the sale of i ts  shareholding in Casa Mining Limited in return for a

US D 5,000,000 interest-free note original ly payable on 19 March 2021 and a 3% Royalty calculated on net

smelter produc0on capped at US D 45,000,000. The US D 5m loan note was subsequently extended and, as

announced in the RNS dated 29 Apri l  2022, satis fied in ful l .

There were a number of key factors  which affect the valua0on of the Casa Royalty which has  a  face value of

US D 45,000,000. These include (a) development and construc0on 0meframe; (b) appropriate discount factor;

(c) avai labi l i ty of construction financing; (d) pol i tical  s tabi l i ty and (e) gold price.

Given these uncertain0es  the Company has  elected to ass ign ni l  value to the Royalty. The Company wi l l

reassess  this  carrying value in future as  the Mis is i  Project progresses  a long the development curve.

17.   Short-term Investments Held at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

The Group's  investments  held at fa i r value through profi t and loss  cons ist of investments  publ icly traded on

the London Stock Exchange and the Over-The-Counter (OTC) market. These investments  are valued at the mid-

price as  at year end.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's

At 1 January 2024 68 - - 68
Addi ti ons - - - -
Profi t on di s pos a l 28 - - 28
Di s pos a l s (96) - - (96)
Fore i gn e xcha nge - - - -
At 31 December 2024 - - - -

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's

Gains on short-term investments held at fair value through profit and loss
Profi t on di s pos a l 28 - - 28
Re a l i s e d l os s  on i mpa i rme nt of
i nve s tme nts -

- -
-

At 31 December 2024 28 - - 28

 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's

At 1 January 2023 1,738 - - 1,738
Addi ti ons - - - -
Fa i r va l ue  l os s (1,509) - - (1,509)
Impa i rme nt of TMNA s ha re s (164) - - (164)
Fore i gn e xcha nge 3 - - 3
At 31 December 2023 68 - - 68

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's

Losses on short-term investments held at fair value through profit and loss
Fa i r va l ue  l os s  on i nve s tme nts (1,509) - - (1,509)
Re a l i s e d l os s  on i mpa i rme nt of
i nve s tme nts (164)

- -
(164)

At 31 December 2023 (1,673) - - (1,673)

 

The fa ir value Agri -Fintech Holdings  Inc. (TMNA), formerly Tingo Inc., decl ined s igni ficantly in 2023. The fa ir

value losses  recognised represent the decl ine in value. Amid widely publ icised FBI and SEC investigations,

TMNA announced i ts  intention to l iquidate in the fourth quarter of 2023. Fol lowing this  announcement, the

investment was  impaired in ful l . The Company continues  to monitor developments .

 

18.   Trade and other payables

Included in trade and other payables  are the fol lowing:

Group Group
31 Dec

2024
31 De c

2023

Current trade and other payables £ 000's £ 000's

Surre nde re d s ha re  opti ons  pa ya bl e 1,181 1,181
Mi nori ty s ha re hol de r l oa ns 53 47

Tra de  pa ya bl e s , othe r pa ya bl e s , de fe rra l s  a nd a ccrua l s 433 1,016
1,667 2,244



1,667 2,244

19.   Share capital

 

Authorised £ 000's  
Unl i mi te d ordi na ry s ha re s  of no pa r va l ue  

 
 
Called up, allotted, issued and fully paid

Number
of shares

Nominal
Value

Average
price

per share
(pence)

Gross
Consideration

Value
GBP'000

 

As at 1 January 2023 1,225,744,782 8,752  
I s s ue d to cre di tors  i n l i e u of pa yme nt 5,593,099 - 2.932 164  
I s s ue d purs ua nt to wa rra nt e xe rci s e s 980,584 - 2.9 28  
As at 31 December 2023 1,232,318,465 8,944  

 

 
As at 1 January 2024 1,232,318,465 8,944
I s s ue d to cre di tors  i n l i e u of pa yme nt 2,840,664 - 1.902 54
Is s ue d purs ua nt to pl a ci ng 235,488,880 - 1.800 4,239
Ca nce l l e d purs ua nt to the  Sha re  Buyba ck(i) (22,539,746) - (1.800) (408)
As at 31 December 2024 1,448,108,263 12,829

 

Share issue costs  in the amount of £249k (31 December 2023 - £ni l ) were incurred in the year and set off

against the share premium account.

(i) The Company announced on 26 March 2024 that it had executed an off-market share buyback agreement pursuant to which it

had acquired 22,539,746 ordinary shares of no par value each (the "Buyback Shares") from Sveriges Lärare (formerly Lärarnas

Riksförbund) for a total consideration of £405,715.43 (the "Share Buyback"). Each Buyback Share was acquired for 1.8 pence per

Buyback Share (being the same price paid by investors in the Company's placing as set out in the Placing Announcements).

 

 

20.   Share based payments and Warrants

Share Options

During the year the fol lowing share options  were issued and valued us ing the Black Scholes  method:

Weighted
Avg Price

(pence)

Number Exercise
Price

(pence)

Share price
at grant
(pence)

Weighted Avg
Term

(years)

Value
(000s)

**

1 January 2023 3.85 20,133,334 1.83 283
Expi re d (11,200,000) - - - (157)
Exe rci s e d duri ng the
ye a r

- - - - -

Gra nte d - - - - -
31 December 2023 4.56 8,933,334 - - 0.52 126

1 January 2024 4.56 8,933,334 - - 0.52 126
Expi re d (8,933,334) - - - (126)
Exe rci s e d duri ng the
ye a r

- - - - -

Gra nte d - - - - -
31 December 2024 - - - - - -
 

No options  are/were subject to vesting conditions.

O p0ons can be se2led in cash and are typical ly granted for a  term between three and five years  at the

discretion of the Board of Directors  upon recommendation by the Remuneration Committee.

There are no op0ons outstanding at 31 December 2024. The weighted average exercise price of the op0ons

outstanding at 31 December 2023 was 4.56 pence.

** Under I F RS 2 "Share-based Payments", the Company determines  the fa ir value of op0ons issued to

Directors , Employees  and other par0es  as  remunera0on and recognises  the amount as  an expense in the

Statement of Comprehensive Income with a  corresponding increase in equity. 

During the year 8,933,334 share op0ons expired unexercised. The value of these expired share op0ons was

calculated based on a pro-rata a l location of the opening balance.

The charge incurred during the year in rela0on to share based payments  was  £ni l  (31 December 2023 -

£27,000).

Warrants

Grant
date

                
Number

Exercise
Price

Term
(years)

Share Price at
grant



date Number
 

Price
(pence)

(years) grant
pence

1 January 2024 11,815,063
Exe rci s e d duri ng the  ye a r -
Gra nte d duri ng the  ye a r 256,088,879 3.00 2.23 1.80
Expi re d duri ng the  ye a r (11,815,063)
TOTAL 31 December 2024 256,088,879
Weighted Average 3.00 2.23(i)

(i ) Remaining term as  at 31 December 2024

The charge incurred during the year in relation to warrants  was  £111k (31 December 2023 - ni l ).

 
Grant
date

                
Number

 

Exercise
Price

(pence)

Term
(years)

Share Price at
grant

pence
1 Jan 2023 12,795,647
Exe rci s e d duri ng the  ye a r 980,584
Expi re d duri ng the  ye a r -
TOTAL 31 December 2023 11,815,063
Weighted Average 4.41 0.5 (i)

(i ) Remaining term as  at 31 December 2023

The charge incurred during the year in relation to warrants  was  ni l .

 

21.   Share premium

31 Dec
2024

31 Dec
2023

£ 000s £ 000s
Opening Balance 64,464 64,272

Tota l  Addi ti ons 4,293 192

Sha re  i s s ue  cos ts (249) -
As at 31 December 68,508 64,464

See Note 19 for a  breakdown of share issues  during the year.

22.   Financial instruments and capital risk management

Categories of financial instruments

The categories  of financial  assets  and l iabi l i0es  included in the statement of financial  pos i0on are as

fol lows:

2024 2023
£000 £000

Financial assets at amortised cost:

Long-te rm re ce i va bl e 6,649 6,531

Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s 1,600 1,859

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 1,635 281

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

Short te rm i nve s tme nts - 68

Financial assets at carrying value using equity method

Inve s tme nt i n a s s oci a te 912 2,458

10,796 11,197

 
2024 2023
£000 £000

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 1,667 2,244

Long-te rm pa ya bl e s 103 105
1,770 2,349

Financial Risk Management

Financial  Risk Factors

The Group's  ac0vi0es  expose i t to a  variety of financial  ri sks : market risk (including foreign currency risk and

price risk), credit risk and l iquidity risk. The Group's  overal l  ri sk management programme focuses  on the

unpredictabi l i ty of financial  markets  and seeks  to minimise poten0al  adverse effects  on the Group's  financial

performance.

Risk management is  carried out by the Board of Directors  under pol icies  approved at Board mee0ngs. The

Board frequently discusses  principles  for overal l  ri sk management including pol icies  for specific areas  such

as  foreign exchange. 



as  foreign exchange. 

a) Market Risk

i ) Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates  interna0onal ly and is  exposed to foreign exchange risk aris ing from various  currency

exposures, primari ly with respect to the pound sterl ing, US dol lar ("US D"), Zambian kwacha ("ZM W ") and

Botswanan pula ("BW P "). Foreign exchange risk arises  from recognised monetary assets  and l iabi l i0es , where

they may be denominated in a  currency that i s  not the Group's  functional  currency.

The Zambian kwacha depreciated by approximately 7% (51% in 2023) - i t has  shown to be a vola0le currency.

The kwacha risk is  mi0gated by the fact that the Group's  Zambian en00es were disposed of during 2023 - See

Note 14. The Group's  exposure is  l imited to Foreland Minerals  Limited subs idiary.

The Botswanan pula depreciated by approximately 2% (appreciated 11% in 2023), W hi lst less  vola0le than

the ZM W, the pula risk i s  s imi larly mi0gated to that of the kwacha by the fact that the Group's  Botswanan

enti ty would only have one month's  cash requirement on hand at any one time.

O n the assump0on that a l l  other variables  were held constant, and in respect of the Group and the Company's

expenses  the poten0al  impact of a  20% increase/decrease in the GBP :ZM W  foreign exchange rate on the

Group's  loss  for the year and on equity is  as  fol lows:

Potential impact on Zambian kwacha and Botswanan Pula expenses: 2023  
Group (BWP) Group (ZMW)

Increase/(decrease) in exchange rates £ 000's £ 000's
20% 6 6

-20% (8) (9)
 
Potential impact on Zambian kwacha and Botswanan pula expenses: 2024  

Incre a s e /(de cre a s e ) i n e xcha nge  ra te s
20% (11) -

-20% 18 -

 

b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises  from cash and cash equivalents .

The Group cons iders  the credit ra0ngs  of banks  in which i t holds  funds  in order to reduce exposure to credit

risk.  The Group wi l l  only keep i ts  holdings  of cash and cash equivalents  with reputable insti tutions.

The Group cons iders  that i t i s  not exposed to major concentrations  of credit risk.

The Group holds  cash as  a  l iquid resource to fund i ts  obl iga0ons.  The Group's  cash balances  are held

primari ly in US D.  The Group's  strategy for managing cash is  to assess  opportunity for interest income whi lst

ensuring cash is  avai lable to match the profile of the Group's  expenditure. This  i s  achieved by regular

monitoring of interest rates  and monthly review of expenditure forecasts . Short term interest rates  on deposits

remained very una2rac0ve during the fiscal  year and management employed short-term investment strategies

to protect working capital  reserves.

The Group has  a  pol icy of not hedging and therefore takes  market rates  in respect of foreign exchange risk;

however, i t does  review i ts  currency exposures  on an ad hoc bas is . Currency exposures  rela0ng to monetary

assets  held by foreign opera0ons are included within the foreign exchange reserve in the Group Balance

Sheet. 

The currency profi le of the Group's  cash and cash equivalent is  as  fol lows:

Dec
2024

De c
2023

Cash and cash equivalents £ 000's £ 000's
Ste rl i ng 1,024 49
US Dol l a rs 589 230
Za mbi a n Kwa cha  (ZMK) - -
Bots wa na  Pul a  (BWP) 22 2
At end of year 1,635 281

 

O n the assump0on that a l l  other variables  were held constant, and in respect of the Group's  cash pos i0on,

the poten0al  impact of a  20% increase in the GBP :US D foreign exchange rate would not have a materia l  impact

on the Group's  cash pos ition and as  such is  not disclosed.

c) Liquidity Risk

To date the Group has  rel ied upon equity funding to finance opera0ons. The Directors  are confident that

adequate funding wi l l  be forthcoming with which to finance opera0ons. Controls  over expenditure are

careful ly managed.



The Group ensures  that i ts  l iquidity i s  maintained by a  management process  which includes  projec0ng cash

flows and cons idering the level  of l iquid assets  in rela0on thereto, monitoring Balance Sheet l iquidity and

maintaining funding sources  and back-up faci l i ties .

Listed securities

Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses  the fol lowing hierarchy for determining and disclos ing the fa ir value of financial  instruments

by valuation technique:

Level  1: quoted (unadjusted) prices  in active markets  for identical  assets .

Level  2: other techniques  for which al l  inputs  that have a s ignificant effect on the recorded fa ir value are

observable, ei ther directly or indirectly.

Level  3: techniques  that use inputs  that have a s ignificant effect on the recorded fa ir value that are not based

on observable market such as  industry knowledge and experience of the Directors .

Risk arises  from uncertainty about the future valua0ons of financial  instruments  held in accordance with the

Company's  investment objec0ves. These future valua0ons are determined by many factors  but include the

opera0onal  and financial  performance of the underlying investee companies , as  wel l  as  market percep0ons

of the future of the economy and i ts  impact upon the economic environment in which these companies

operate.

As  at year end, the Company held no investments  in companies  that are l i s ted on stock markets .

Capital Risk Management

The Group's  objec0ves  when managing capital  are to safeguard the Group's  abi l i ty to pos i0on as  a  going

concern and to con0nue i ts  explora0on and evalua0on ac0vi0es. The Group has  capital , defined as  the total

equity and reserves  of the Group, of £11,448,000 (December 2023: £10,547,000).

The Group monitors  i ts  level  of cash resources  avai lable against future planned explora0on and evalua0on

activi ties  and issues  new shares  in order to ra ise further funds  from time to time.

23.   Commitments

Alvis-Crest committed exploration expenditure

Un0l  a  decis ion to mine is  reached, the Group is  commi2ed to spending, during any consecu0ve three year

period, not less  than US D 200,000 per year, on average, on the Virgo P roject. The l icences  were renewed in

2024 for a  further 2 years  to 2026. The Group is  commi2ed to spending at least US D 200,000 over any

consecutive 3 year period.

Exploration commitments

O ngoing explora0on expenditure is  required to maintain 0tle to the Group's  mineral  explora0on permits . No

provis ion has  been made in the Group financial  s tatements  for these amounts  as  the expenditure is  expected

to be ful fi l led in the normal  course of the operations  of the Group. 

24.   Related party transactions

Transac0ons between the Company and i ts  subs idiaries , which are related par0es, have been el iminated on

consol ida0on and are not disclosed in this  note. There were no other transac0ons with related par0es  during

the reporting year, except as  disclosed below:

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

The remuneration of the Directors  and PDMRs is  set out in Note 7.

Of the amounts  set out in Note 7:

£164k (2023 - £284k) was  incurred with VC Resources  Ltd, a  PSC owned by Vass i l ios  Carel las , as  remuneration

for his  pos ition as  Chief Operating Officer.

£135k (2023 - £123k) was  incurred with H FS Consul0ng Ltd, a  company owned by I an Lynch, as  remunera0on

for his  pos ition as  Chief Financial  Officer.

25.   Ultimate controlling party

There is  no ultimate control l ing party in the opinion of the Board.

26.   Events after the reporting date



Issuance of LTIPs

O n 7 Apri l  2025, the Company announced that the Board had approved the issuance of a  combina0on of

restricted stock units  and share options.

Chingola Acquisition

O n 7 Apri l  2025, the Company announced that i t had entered into a  binding agreement to acquire the Chingola

P roject (Licence 38113-H Q -LEL) in the Zambian Copperbelt, subject to the sa0sfac0on of certain condi0ons.

The Company is  currently progress ing the conditions  precedent.
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